Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Talanta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/talanta

Review Quantitative gold nanoparticle analysis methods: A review

Lei Yu*, Angelo Andriola

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Rowan University, Glassboro, NJ 08028, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 March 2010 Received in revised form 8 June 2010 Accepted 9 June 2010 Available online 16 June 2010

Keywords: Gold nanoparticle Quantitative analysis

ABSTRACT

Research and development in the area of gold nanoparticles' (AuNPs) preparation, characterization, and applications are burgeoning in recent years. Many of the techniques and protocols are very mature, but two major concerns are with the mass domestic production and the consumption of AuNP based products. First, how many AuNPs exist in a dispersion? Second, where are the AuNPs after digestion by the environment and how many are there? To answer these two questions, reliable and reproducible methods are needed to analyze the existence and the population of AuNP in samples. This review summarized the most recent chemical and particle quantitative analysis methods that have been used to characterize the concentration (in number of moles of gold per liter) or population (in number of particles per mL) of AuNPs. The methods summarized in this review include, mass spectroscopy, electroanalytical methods, spectroscopic methods, and particle counting methods. These methods may count the number of AuNP directly or analyze the total concentration of element gold in an AuNP dispersion.

Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1.	Introduction	869
2.	Challenge and opportunities of nanoparticle analysis	870
3.	Mass spectroscopy	870
4.	Direct amperometric methods	871
5.	Cathodic linear sweep voltammetry	871
6.	Anodic stripping voltammetry	872
7.	ICP–MS methods	872
8.	Spectroscopy	873
9.	Particle counting techniques	873
10.	Conclusion and perspectives	873
	Acknowledgement	874
	References	874

1. Introduction

Nanotechnology and nanoscience, being an interdisciplinary subject of physics, chemistry, biology, and engineering, advanced the contemporary fundamental and application research in the past two decades. No matter which nano-sized material will be chosen first for mass production, nanotechnologies (nanotech) will be one of the carriers for the next industrial revolution. Among many nanomaterials, gold nanoparticle (AuNP) and its colloidal dispersions are promising candidates for future scientific, industrial, and domestic applications. Series of thorough reviews about the preparation, structure, properties, and applications of AuNP have been published [1,2]. The pace of nanotech development is extraordinary. According to a recent estimate from Lux Research, a consulting firm that monitors emerging technologies, \$147 billion worth of nanotech based products were manufactured in 2007, while about \$3.1 trillion worth of nanotech enabled products by 2015 could be expected [3].

Currently, fundamental and application research and development work is focused on discovering new nanomaterials, constructing new nanostructures, and exploring new applications. As nanotech and nanomaterials became more and more pervasive, two topics have appeared to the vision of the science community. The first topic is the potential risks to human health and to





^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 856 256 5409; fax: +1 856 256 4478. *E-mail address:* yu@rowan.edu (L. Yu).



Fig. 1. AuNP quantitative analysis following its production and applications.

the environment. The second topic is the quality control of nanomaterials manufacturing. These two separate topics are strongly interrelated because it is necessary to know the population (number of nanoparticles) of the nanomaterials and then to investigate their effect. Once nanomaterials are mass consumed as food additives, cosmetics, medicine, etc., it is necessary to know where the nanomaterials are afterward and how the environment digests the "nanowaste" [4–9]. Two typical series of chemicals that have been consumed vastly by human activities, that have significantly affected human health and environment, and whose effects had not been effectively investigated before mass applications are pesticides and fluorochlorohydrocarbons.

Once colloidals of nanoparticles are mass produced, quality of the product needs to be controlled. These qualities should include the "amount" of the nanoparticles in a dispersion. The characterization includes not only the size of the nanoparticles, but also their quantity. Therefore, quantitative nanoparticle analysis methods are also very important for the production and quality monitoring (see Fig. 1).

This paper reviews the up-to-date methods that have been developed for quantitative analysis of the population of AuNP in its colloidal dispersion. The AuNP could be considered a representative of the metal or metal oxide nanoparticles. Therefore, reports about the analysis of other metals and metal oxides are not included in this review. Polymers and biopolymers, fullerenes, and single wall carbon nanotube solutions are thermodynamically "real" solutions, though the size of these molecules is in the range of nanometers instead of sub-nanometers. Therefore, the analysis of these macromolecules is considered quantitative "chemical" analysis, and hence, is not discussed in this paper. To the author's knowledge, this is the first systematic review about the quantitative analysis methods of gold nanoparticles. In this paper, we reviewed the methods that can be used for AuNP analysis. These methods include mass spectroscopy, electroanalytical methods, optical spectroscopy, and particle counting techniques. Microscopes have been used intensively for AuNP characterization. These microscopy techniques are transmission electron microscopy (TEM), atomic force microscopy (AFM), scanning tunneling microscopy (STM), and electronic scanning microscopy (SEM) [1,10–13]. Microscopy techniques are not quantitative characterization methods and, therefore, are not included in this review.

Two terms, population and concentration, are used in this review to describe the quantity of gold in a dispersion. Population refers to the number of AuNPs per mL, no matter what size the AuNP is. Concentration in molarity (mol/L) refers to number of moles of gold per liter of dispersion. The AuNP is not considered a molecular species. Therefore, the number of moles of gold equals the number of gold atoms divided by the Avogadro's constant (6.02×10^{23}), instead of the number of nanoparticles divided

by the Avogadro's constant. In the cited references, authors may not state the meaning when concentration in molarity is used. To make our discussion clear and consistent, population in number of AuNP/mL will be used in this review. When concentration in molarity is used, it refers to the total concentration of gold element. Mass percentage and parts per million (ppm) are not ambiguous, and are also used in this review.

2. Challenge and opportunities of nanoparticle analysis

AuNP dispersions are not solutions. Each individual particle can be considered as a solid phase in liquid dispersion. An AuNP dispersion is, theoretically, thermodynamically not stable due to the relatively large interface energy. Traditional methods that have been used to analyze the "concentration" of a chemical in its solution may not be suitable for the analysis of the "population" of AuNP in its dispersion, especially the methods that are based on the colligative properties of solutions.

The total "amount" of gold nanoparticles in a typical colloidal dispersion is very small. For example, a 20 nm AuNP colloidal dispersion from Ted Pella Inc. contains about 7×10^{11} particles/mL [14]. This is about 57 ppm of gold, equals to about 2.9×10^{-4} mol/L. Very sensitive methods are needed to measure either the total amount (number of gold atoms) or the population (number of AuNPs) in dispersions.

Quantitative analytical chemistry analyzes chemicals at the molecular level. Usually, these species (molecules and ions) are smaller than 1 nm, except for polymers and biomacromolecules. On the other hand, there are other well-developed engineering methods in characterization of fine particles that are $0.1 \,\mu m$ (100 nm) or larger [15]. The AuNP usually has an average diameter between 1 nm and 100 nm, which is neither covered by the "chemical analysis", nor fine particles characterization, as shown in Fig. 2. In this review, we summarize how the current chemical analysis methods and particle characterization methods are used to investigate AuNPs with diameters over the range of 1–100 nm.

3. Mass spectroscopy

Mass spectroscopic (MS) methods analyze the mass-charge ratio (m/z) of a charged species with high resolution and large



Fig. 2. Chemical analysis, nanoparticle analysis, and fine powder characterization.

range of "molar" mass. There is theoretically no absolute upper limit of m/z [16,17]. The range of detectable m/z values depends on many factors such as power of desorption laser used, acceleration potential, vacuum, and stability of species. Usually, the MALDI–TOP method can detect m/z up to hundreds of kilo-Dalton (kDa) with good accuracy and resolution. A geometrically spherical gold nanoparticle with diameter of 5 nm has "molar" mass of 754 kDa, given the density of gold is 19.3 g/cm³. Therefore, AuNPs of 5 nm or smaller are in the theoretical detectable range of MS. A series of reports about the characterization of AuNP by MALDI–TOF MS demonstrate excellent sensitivity and resolution of results from gold clusters. These gold clusters have gold atoms less than 100, and hence, yield a m/z value of about tens of kDa [18–24]. This m/z value corresponds to an AuNP of 2 nm or smaller.

Zhang et al. reported MALDI–TOP MS detection of *N*-acetyl-L-cysteine monolayer protected polydisperse gold clusters [18]. High-resolution peaks of gold clusters with a core of Au₄–Au₂₂ have been observed over the *m*/*z* range from 1436 to about 7000. Broadened peaks of larger gold clusters up to Au₃₉ also obtained over ~7.5–9.5 kDa. Also with MALDI–TOF MS, Arnold and Reilly observed high-resolution peaks of alkanethiolate-coated clusters up to Au₇₁S₃₁, which is 15 kDa [21].

Chaki et al. observed the peak of $[Au_{144}(SC_n)_{59}]^z$, which is about 29 kDa with laser desorption ionization MS [24]. Wu et al. and Dass et al. carefully characterized the peaks of Au₂₅(SCH₂CH₂Ph)₁₈ cluster (around 5308 Da) [22,23]. It is also found that when different matrices are used, the resulting mass spectra of the same gold cluster Au₂₅(SCH₂CH₂Ph)₁₈ are dramatically different. Typical matrices may include sinapinic acid (SA), 4'-hydroxy-azobenzene-2-carboxylic acid (HABA), 1:1 mixture of dihydroxybenzoic acid and α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid (UMM), and trans-2-[3-(4-tert-butylphenyl)-2-methyl-2propenylidene]malononitrile(DCTB)[22]. Mass spectra in matrices of SA, HABA, and UMM are dominated by fragment peaks, even at lower laser intensities. In DCTB matrix, significant amounts of intact molecular ions are produced. Based on these and other previous works [25-30], electrospray ionization mass spectroscopy (EIS) gave high-resolution results for Au_{144/146} clusters with multiple charge, 10+–15+, around 29 kDa. The exact m/z value depends on the structure and coverage of the protection monolayer. The high resolution of the mass spectra peaks indicates what exactly the species are. The intensity of the peaks is at million-count level which can provide a limit of detection for counting the numbers of the particles. Meanwhile, a Au₆₈(SR)₃₄ nanocluster is also identified by its mass spectra peak at about 18 kDa [31].

Mass spectroscopy is a very reliable means for the identification and quantization of AuNPs at a sub-nanometer level. Owing to the high resolution and high sensitivity of MS, the size, size distribution, and abundance of AuNPs (Au clusters) can be easily obtained by analyzing a mass spectrum. However, reports of MS of lager AuNPs (diameter > 2 nm) are not currently available.

4. Direct amperometric methods

Murray thoroughly reviewed the electrochemical properties of metal nanoclusters, such as Ag nanoclusters and gold nanoclusters [32]. When the nanoclusters are small enough, they have molecular-like electrochemical voltammograms. For Au₇₅ (ca. 14 kDa) and smaller clusters, the HOMO-LUMO energy gaps are larger than 0.74 V, and voltammograms of molecular-like nanoparticles were obtained [33–37]. The cyclic voltammograms (CV) and differential pulse voltammograms (DPV) of gold nanocluster dispersions showed ambiguous multiple peaks of the reversible or semi-reversible 1e oxidation/reduction at room temperature and at -70 °C. It has been observed that the electrochemical current is determined by the diffusion of the molecular-like clusters. The diffusion coefficients of these nanoclusters are around or smaller than $\sim 10^{-6}$ cm²/s, which is close to or smaller than "usual" inorganic ions in their water solutions [38]. Therefore, both the Cottrell equation and the Levich equation apply to relate the Faradic current and the population of the gold clusters. An amperometric analysis can be applied because the Faradic current is intrinsically proportional to the gold cluster population.

Interestingly, when relatively larger gold clusters (14–28 kDa) were examined, quantized double layer charging/discharging voltammograms showed distinguishable peaks of 1e transfers [32]. In these dispersions, the gold nanoclusters behave as quantum capacitors, instead of electroactive species [39–43]. Population of gold clusters with a core of Au_{147} and Au_{38} have been measured by the transition time of chronoamperometry [43]. The populations were between 90 μ M and 590 μ M, which are very high for gold clusters and AuNPs. Meanwhile, the diffusion coefficients were also estimated with the same dataset. The quantitative analysis was not based on a calibration curve of current and concentration, and therefore, the uncertainty of the measurement was not reported.

The direct amperometric method has been used as one of the detectors of a liquid chromatography for AuNP separation. After eluted from a HPLC column, the AuNP dispersion, with a core of Au₃₈ or Au₁₄₀, was detected by both a spectroscopic method and a fast-scan CV method [44]. A Pt microcylinder electrode was used as the working electrode. The scan rate was 150 V/s that cannot be reached by most commercial brand potentiostats. The output currents are all in nA level [45,46]. Another significance of this method is that after the combination of the results from optical and electrochemical detection, the size of the gold clusters can be estimated by a ratiometric method. The ratio of the absorbance and the current approximately equals to $r^{11/3}$, where *r* is the radius of the AuNP [44,46]. This is valid for AuNPs with a diameter smaller than 1.7 nm. The results are also significantly affected by the protection monolayer.

There is no report so far about the quantitative characterization of AuNP population by their redox current. The reason is probably that the Faradic current is intrinsically small at the sub-microamper or nanoamper level, which yields a very poor sensitivity and limit of detection. When gold clusters are prepared and used for different applications, their populations are usually very low. This makes the amperometric detection even more difficult. For example, the DPV peak current of a 177 μ M Au₁₄₇ dispersion is only 0.05 nA [43]. In two reports [33,39], the DPV peak current was about 0.1 μ A for a 0.30 mM 8 kDa solution; ca. 0.05 μ A for 0.1 mM 22 kDa solution, 28 kDa solution, and 38 kDa solution.

The largest AuNP that has been characterized by voltammetric methods has a core size of 38 kDa. These molecular-like gold clusters are within the sub-nanometer range.

Larger AuNPs, with diameter greater than 3–4 nm [32], has Bulk-Continuum voltammetric behavior. The oxidation and reduction currents are the charging and discharging of the double layers of the AuNP [47]. However, the oxidation and reduction current strongly depends on the properties and the composition of the protective layer, usually a monolayer of alkanethiol. Therefore, the currents are not solely from the core of the AuNP.

5. Cathodic linear sweep voltammetry

When the AuNPs are larger than 5 nm, they are not considered like molecules. Each AuNP consists of a number of gold atoms. For example, assuming the AuNPs are perfect spheres and their densities are identical to bulk gold, an AuNP of 5 nm diameter, 10 nm diameter, or 20 nm diameter contains about 3.8×10^3 , 3.1×10^4 , 2.5×10^5 gold atoms, respectively. Therefore, when the average

diameter of the AuNPs is a known value, the number of AuNP can be estimated by analyzing the quantity of element Au. After adsorbed on a graphite electrode, the AuNP (5–72.5 nm) can be oxidized to $AuCl_4^-$ at 1.25 V vs. Ag/AgCl in a 0.1 M HCl electrolyte solution [48–50]. The so-produced $AuCl_4^-$ anions are then reduced and deposited on the surface of the electrode by linear sweep of the electrode potential from 1.25 V to 0.0 V. A cathodic peak at around 0.4 V vs. Ag/AgCl appeared, which came from the reduction of $AuCl_4^-$ to Au metal. The half electrochemical reactions are showed below:

 $Au_{NP}^{0} + 4Cl^{-} \xrightarrow{H^{+}} AuCl_{4}^{-} + 3e$ oxidation of Au at 1.25 V

 $AuCl_4^- + 3e \xrightarrow{H^+} Au^0 + 4Cl^-$ reduction of $AuCl_4^-$ at 0.4 V

García et al. reported that the reduction peak current related to the linear sweep rate, oxidation potential, oxidation time, and the size of AuNP [48]. Like most voltammetric methods, increase in the sweep rate increased the peak current. The peak current is proportional to the sweep rate over the range of 2-100 mV/s, indicating that the electrode kinetics is not diffusion control, and the onsiteproduced AuCl₄⁻ was adsorbed on the surface of the electrode. The peak current increased with the increase of oxidation potential and oxidation time, but reached a limit value in both variances [48]. It is very interesting that the peak current was proportional to the diameter of the AuNP, from 5 nm to 71.5 nm, when the AuNP concentrations were fixed at 2.94×10^{-6} M. The reason of the linear relationship is still unclear.

When linear sweep voltammetry was used, a dynamic range of gold concentration, over 5.89×10^{-7} – 2.94×10^{-5} M, was obtained with a limit of detection of 3.49×10^{-7} M based on a signal-to-noise ratio of 3 [48]. When the amperometric sensitivity was improved by the use of differential pulse voltammetry, the dynamic range was 5.08×10^{-8} – 4.06×10^{-6} M and the detection limit was 1.78×10^{-8} M at the same signal/noise ratio [48]. Also by use of the same method, Merkoci and co-workers improved the dynamic range further, over a gold concentration range of 2.5×10^{-8} – 2.5×10^{-5} M with a limit of detection of 9.3×10^{-9} M [49]. For 10 nm diameter AuNPs, this dynamic range and limit of detection corresponds to 4.7×10^{8} – 4.7×10^{11} nanoparticles/cm³ and 1.8×10^{8} nanoparticles/cm³, respectively.

One advantage of this method is that the existence of biomolecules, such as immunoglobulin, does not affect the oxidation and reduction of Au and AuCl₄⁻. Therefore, this method can be used to detect the antibody/antigen conjugated AuNP in immunoassay and other bioanalytical approaches [48,50–58]. This method required that the AuNP is pre-adsorbed on the surface of electrode by physical adsorption. Therefore, carbon paste electrode or graphite–epoxy composite electrodes were used due to their larger surface area and adsorptivity to AuNPs. The sensitivity and the limit of detection are determined by the overall coverage of the AuNP on the electrode surface. In the next part, anodic stripping voltammetry will be introduced, which does not depend on the immobilization of AuNPs.

6. Anodic stripping voltammetry

Stripping analysis is an extremely sensitive electrochemical technique for measuring trace metals. Its higher sensitivity, compared with other amperometric methods, is attributed to the electrochemical pre-concentration. Typical detection limits are as low as $10^{-9}-10^{-12}$ M [59–63]. When metallic gold in the AuNP is chemically oxidized to Au(III), the Au(III) ions can be deposited (pre-concentrated) on the electrode by electrochemical reduction usually at -0.8 V vs. SCE. Then, the thin layer of Au metal can be stripped by anodic sweeping the electrode potential from 0 V to

1.0 V vs. SCE. An anodic peak of Au oxidation showed up at about 0.7 V vs. SCE. The chemical oxidization was usually achieved by soaking in HBr/Br₂ solution [64–66]. The chemical and electrochemical procedures are showed below:

$$2Au_{NP}^{0} + 2Br^{-} + 3Br_{2} \xrightarrow{H^{+}} 2AuBr_{4}^{-}$$
 oxidation by Br_{2}/HBr_{2}

 $AuBr_4^- + 3e \xrightarrow{H^+} Au^0 + 4Br^- \quad reduction \ of \ AuBr_4^- \ at \ -0.8 \ V$

 $Au^0 + 4Br^- \xrightarrow{H^+} AuBr_4^- + 3e$ oxidation of Au^0 at 0.7 V

Owing to the high oxidation potential of Br₂ in HBr media $(E_{\text{Br}_2/\text{Br}^-}^\circ = 1.066 \text{ V} \text{ ss. standard hydrogen electrode})$, AuNPs can be oxidized when it is conjugated with different types of biomolecules and organic protective monolayers [67–74]. In its dilute aqueous solution, Br₂ can convert to HBrO by reacting with H₂O, which is a stronger oxidizing reagent than Br₂ ($E_{\text{HBrO/Br}^-}^\circ = 1.331 \text{ V} \text{ vs.}$ standard hydrogen electrode). The detection limit of Au(III) concentration can be as low as $5 \times 10^{-9} \text{ M}$ with the stripping voltammetry [60]. This concentration of Au(III) will equal to approximately 1×10^8 10-nm particles/cm³ or 1.2×10^7 20-nm particles/cm³. It is also reported that prolonging the deposition time with stirring will further reduce the limit of detection [64]. In most of the references, a disposable carbon paste electrode was used that made the detection become very convenient and reproducible. However, the use of bromine, that is toxic and corrosive, restricts the broader applications of this method.

The cathodic linear sweep voltammetry and the anodic stripping voltammetry methods are means of Au analysis. In order to obtain the value of population of number of AuNPs, other methods, such as TEM, are required to characterize the average size (diameter) of the AuNP.

7. ICP-MS methods

Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectroscopy (ICP-MS) offers many benefits to trace metal detections. The limit of detection of element gold can be as low as 1 part per trillion, about 1 pg/mL [75,76]. AuNP dispersions can be directly analyzed without any previous dissolving [77]. The AuNP will be introduced into the ICP torch by nebulization and then converted to plasma by the extreme high temperature, approximately 6000-8000°C. When standard plain AuNP dispersions were used to validate the method, a good recovery of spikes (93–95%) was obtained if the AuNP was dispersed in HCl solution. The calibration range was found to be over 10–100 μ g/L Au. The limit of detection was about 0.06 μ g/L Au. The limit of quantification was about 0.15 µg/L Au, which equals to about 4.40×10^6 15-nm AuNPs/mL. Although no predissolution is required, the components of matrix strongly affect the results. When 1% (v/v) HCl was used, an excellent spike recovery of above 90% was obtained with excellent reproducibility. When 1% trisodium citrate solution was used, the spike recovery was very low, 10-40%, and no constant value could be obtained. When AuNP dispersion was diluted by deionized water, a reduction of recovery values was observed, as well as a reduction of measured Au(III) concentration in the unspiked sample [77]. The results from different sized AuNPs, 5 nm- 20+ nm, showed that the results (spike recovery and uncertainty) did not depend on the size of the AuNP.

Immunoglobulin conjugated AuNPs have also been analyzed by ICP–MS [78–82]. In these reports, the 1.4–15 nm AuNP was digested by aqua regia [80], mixture of 10% HCl and 0.1% HF [79,82], or diluted HNO₃ solution [78,81] before the ICP–MS measurement. The use of the AuNP, as detection labels, significantly improved the sensitivity and detection limit of the immunoassay. The results also showed that with the pre-digestion, the matrix does not have observable effects on the ICP-MS measurement of Au. Oligonucleotide-linked AuNPs are also detected by ICP-MS [83–85]. The oligonucleotides were linked to 1.4–15 nm AuNPs by the streptividin-biotin binding or by the thiol-Au bond.

Combined with pre-separation methods, such as liquid chromatography or electrophoresis, the eluates can also be detected by ICP–MS [86,87]. When laser ablation (LA) ICP–MS is used to detect AuNPs, an even lower detection limit can be obtained [88]. Antibody conjugated 10-nm AuNP was separated by Western Blot first, and the detection limit was about 0.449 fmol of gold, which equals to 10 particles/mL [89]. The LA–ICP–MS method showed an excellent linear calibration curve at this extremely low concentration of gold.

Following the ion-flash-intensity theory, a single-particle mode ICP–MS AuNP detection method was applied. This method requires relatively larger AuNPs, for example, over the range of 80-250 nm. Theoretically, AuNPs as small as 25 nm could be detected with a detection limit of $\sim 10^3$ particles/mL with a data acquisition of 20 s [90]. Further increasing the scan time may reduce the limit of detection to an even lower value. The AuNP can be dispersed in deionized water directed without any other pre-treatment before the ICP–MS detection. However, it may not apply to AuNPs that are 20 nm or smaller. The single-particle mode ICP–MS method has been applied to detect 20 nm, 45 nm, and 80 nm antibody conjugated AuNPs [91].

8. Spectroscopy

In the visible range of light, the optical spectrum of AuNPs of 3.4 nm or larger has an absorption band centered on the wavelength of 520–530 nm. The Lorenz–Mie theory described the surface plasmon resonance effect (the so-called Mie scattering) of spherical nanoparticles [92,93]. In a dilute AuNP dispersion, the Beer's law applies: the absorbance is proportional to the number of nanoparticles per unit volume of dispersion, as described below:

$$A = \frac{NdC_{\text{ext}}}{2.303}$$

where A is the absorbance, N is the number of nanoparticles per unit volume of dispersion, d is the path length, and Cext is the extinction cross section of a single particle [92]. The value of Cext depends on many factors including the particle size, shape, chemical components of the particle surface, interaction between the particles, and the circumstance of the dispersion [94-96]. For a series of AuNP dispersions, if these factors are identical, the number of AuNP per unit volume can be measured by the absorbance of the dispersion based on the Beer's law. The optical method is good to AuNPs with diameter of 5–100 nm, which is in the "nanoparticle" range. The spectroscopic method can determine both the size and the concentration of the AuNPs based on the peak position and peak intensity [97,98]. However, due to the relatively low sensitivity of UV-vis, a very low limit of detection has not been obtained. The aggregation of AuNPs also significantly affects the spectrum: both peak position and peak intensity. A number of reports used the UV-vis method to analyze the concentration of biomolecule-conjugated AuNPs. A few recent papers are cited here [99-106]. Some of the references directly used the colorimetric method for semi-quantitative analysis that is also based on the plasmon scattering of visible light [107].

9. Particle counting techniques

The laser light scattering is a very mature method for the detection of fine particles in aerosol science. This technique is based upon the amount of light that is scattered by a particle. Typical light scattering method is good for AuNPs of 0.05 μ m (50 nm) or larger. However, employment of the condensation nuclei counter (CNC) technique would allow higher detection sensitivity in particle sizes down to nanometer range. The method usually combined an electrospray nebulizer for liquid samples and a dynamic mobility separator [108,109]. The CNC method has also been used for sizing and quantifying of AuNPs below 30 nm [110-112]. The light scattering strongly depends on the surface properties of the nanoparticle and the thickness of the layer surrounding an AuNP. Both the solvent to make the AuNP dispersion and the temperature of the nebulizer affect the results of the particle counting [110]. With a modified particle size magnifier, AuNPs below 2 nm can be separated and counted effectively. The counting efficiency is seen to depend greatly on the aerosol flow, the amount of vapor, and the temperature [112]. With ethylene glycol vapor under optimal conditions, the counting efficiency is 100% down to 1.6 nm. It was also found that negatively charged particles are more easily activated than positively charged particles [111]. The same method can be applied for both unconjugated AuNPs and monolayer-conjugated AuNPs. In both cases, the existence of salts in the dispersion significantly affect the measuring results because the surface of the AuNP will be covered by salt residue after evaporation of the solvent [113]. This will bring error to the size measurement of the AuNP, but will not affect the results of the AuNP counting.

Also based on the light scattering technique, a direct photon burst counter method was developed for AuNP counting. The photon burst was counted by an avalanche photodiode [114]. It requires a tiny volume of sample, less than 1 fl, and provides excellent linearity of photon burst counts vs. AuNP concentration, over a range of four decades from as low as 1.0×10^7 particles/mL. The diameters of the AuNPs tested are 17–55 nm. Increasing the measurement time can further increase the sensitivity and decrease the limit of detection. The method can be applied for counting antibody, aptamer, and DNA conjugated AuNPs, and the results agreed with traditional bioanalytical methods such as ELISA.

10. Conclusion and perspectives

AuNPs of 5-10 nm have mass at the million-Dalton level that is comparable to many macromolecules. However, they are usually not considered molecules. In fact, their exact structure and composition are not completely clear yet [93]. Each individual AuNP can be considered as a condensed phase of gold instead. Therefore, AuNPs are not considered a molecular "species", even in its absolute monodispersed colloidal. Colligative properties of AuNP dispersions based on the number of AuNP in the dispersion have not been reported due to the extremely small "molarity" (multiple of Avogadro's constant AuNP per liter) of AuNP. With the industrialization of AuNPs, the quantitative analysis of the number of AuNPs has become more and more important. There are mainly two ways to approach the quantitative analysis. One is to directly count the numbers of AuNP by MS, spectrophotometry, or light scattering methods. The other way is a combination of size characterization methods such as TEM and chemical analysis methods such as amperometry and ICP-MS. Both of these approaches are based on current materials analysis methods that can be used for the characterization of AuNPs over 1-100 nm. Direct counting methods are straightforward, but have limitations in the range of AuNP diameters. Neither MS nor CNC can cover the whole range from 1 nm to 100 nm. Chemical analysis of gold provides the lump-sum of gold atoms as a whole. However, the existence of gold Au(III) ions and complex compounds interfere with the results. Other methods are required to characterize the average size of the AuNP and size distribution.

While analytical chemistry has been established and developed during the past century, tremendous work and new methods are needed in the area of gold nanoparticle analysis. On the one hand, new protocols of sampling and calibration will be developed specifically for AuNP based on existing instrumental methods or wet chemistry. The protocols and the methods may vary depend on the average size of AuNP, size distribution, and the methods that will be used. One the other hand, new techniques that can directly characterize the number of AuNP may be discovered. Either way, the quantitative AuNP analysis may further extend to new areas or may develop new physical or analytical concepts based on the colligative properties of the AuNP.

Acknowledgement

This work is supported by Rowan University Non-Salary Financial Support Grants.

References

- [1] M.C. Daniel, D. Astruc, Chemical Reviews 104 (2004) 293-346.
- [2] C.N.R. Rao, A.K. Cheetham (Eds.), The Chemistry of Nanomaterials Synthesis, Properties and Applications, vol. 1 and 2, WILEY-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, 2004.
- [3] B.E. Erickson, C&EN 86 (2008) 35-36.
- [4] K. Tiede, A.B.A. Boxall, S.P. Tear, J. Lewis, H. David, M. Hassellov, Food Additives & Contaminants 25 (2008) 795–821.
- [5] J.K. Jiang, G. Oberdorster, P. Biswas, Journal of Nanoparticle Research 11 (2009) 77–89.
- [6] C. Hanley, A. Thurber, C. Hanna, A. Punnoose, J.H. Zhang, D.G. Wingett, Nanoscale Research Letters 4 (2009) 1409–1420.
- [7] N. Singh, B. Manshian, G.J.S. Jenkins, S.M. Griffiths, P.M. Williams, T.G.G. Maffeis, C.J. Wright, S.H. Doak, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 3891–3914.
- [8] G. Oberdorster, Journal of Internal Medicine 267 (2010) 89-105.
- [9] A.E. Nel, L. Madler, D. Velegol, T. Xia, E.M.V. Hoek, P. Somasundaran, F. Klaessig, V. Castranova, M. Thompson, Nature Materials 8 (2009) 543–557.
- [10] M. Giersig, P. Mulvaney, Langmuir 9 (1993) 3408–3413.
- [11] J.W. Long, B. Dunn, D.R. Rolison, H.S. White, Chemical Reviews 104 (2004) 4463-4492.
- [12] M. Brust, M. Walker, D. Bethell, D.J. Schiffrin, R. Whyman, Chemical Communications (1994) 801–802.
- [13] M. Brust, J. Fink, D. Bethell, D.J. Schiffrin, C. Kiely, Chemical Communications (1995) 1655–1656.
- [14] C. Sirisopanaporn, A. Fernicola, B. Scrosati, Journal of Power Sources 186 (2009) 490–495.
- [15] B.H. Kaye, in: P.J. Elving, J.D. Winefordner (Eds.), Chemical Analysis, vol. 61, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1981.
- [16] G.L. Hortin, Clinical Chemistry 52 (2006) 1223-1237.
- [17] D. Twerenbold, D. Gerber, D. Gritti, Y. Gonin, A. Netuschill, F. Rossel, D. Schenker, J.-L. Vuilleumier, Proteomics 1 (2001) 66–69.
- [18] Y. Zhang, S.M. Shuang, C. Dong, C.K. Lo, M.C. Paau, M.M.F. Choi, Analytical Chemistry 81 (2009) 1676–1685.
- [19] H. Tsunoyama, Y. Negishi, T. Tsukuda, Journal of the American Chemical Society 128 (2006) 6036–6037.
- [20] A. Dass, R. Guo, J.B. Tracy, R. Balasubramanian, A.D. Douglas, R.W. Murray, Langmuir 24 (2008) 310-315.
- [21] R.J. Arnold, J.P. Reilly, Journal of the American Chemical Society 120 (1998) 1528–1532.
- [22] A. Dass, A. Stevenson, G.R. Dubay, J.B. Tracy, R.W. Murray, Journal of the American Chemical Society 130 (2008) 5940–5946.
- [23] Z.W. Wu, C. Gayathri, R.R. Gil, R.C. Jin, Journal of the American Chemical Society 131 (2009) 6535–6542.
- [24] N.K. Chaki, Y. Negishi, H. Tsunoyama, Y. Shichibu, T. Tsukuda, Journal of the American Chemical Society 130 (2008) 8608.
- [25] C.J. McNeal, J.M. Hughes, L.H. Pignolet, L.T.J. Nelson, T.G. Gardner, J.P. Fackler Jr., R.E.P. Winpenny, L.H. Irgens, G. Vigh, R.D. Macfarlane, Inorganic Chemistry 32 (1993) 5582–5590.
- [26] J.B. Tracy, G. Kalyuzhny, M.C. Crowe, R. Balasubramanian, J.-P. Choi, R.W. Murray, Journal of the American Chemical Society 129 (2007) 6706–6707.
- [27] J.B. Tracy, M.C. Crowe, J.F. Parker, O. Hampe, C.A. Fields-Zinna, A. Dass, R.W. Murray, Journal of the American Chemical Society 129 (2007) 16209–16215.
- [28] A. Dass, G.R. Dubay, C.A. Fields-Zinna, R.W. Murray, Analytical Chemistry 80 (2008) 6845-6849.
- [29] A.P. Gies, D.M. Hercules, A.E. Gerdon, D.E. Cliffel, Journal of the American Chemical Society 129 (2007) 1095–1104.
- [30] T.G. Schaaff, Analytical Chemistry 76 (2004) 6187-6196.
- [31] A. Dass, Journal of the American Chemical Society 131 (2009) 11666-11667.
- [32] R.W. Murray, Chemical Reviews 108 (2008) 2688–2720.
- [33] S. Chen, M.J. Hostetler, J.J. Pietron, R.W. Murray, T.G. Schaaff, J.T. Khoury, M.M. Alvarez, R.L. Whetten, Science 280 (1998) 2098–2101.
- [34] R. Balasubramanian, R. Guo, A.J. Mills, R.W. Murray, Journal of the American Chemical Society 127 (2005) 8126–8132.
- [35] D. Lee, R.L. Donkers, G. Wang, A.S. Harper, R.W. Murray, Journal of the American Chemical Society 126 (2004) 6193–6199.

- [36] V.L. Jimenez, D.G. Georganopoulou, R.J. White, A.S. Harper, A.J. Mills, D. Lee, R.W. Murray, Langmuir 20 (2004) 6864–6870.
- [37] L.D. Menard, S. Gao, H. Xu, R.D. Twesten, A.S. Harper, Y. Song, G. Wang, A.D. Douglas, J.C. Yang, A.I. Frenkel, R.G. Nuzzo, R.W. Murray, The Journal of Physical Chemistry B 110 (2006) 12874–12883.
- [38] V.S. Bagotsky, Fundamentals of Electrochemistry, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey, 2006.
- [39] R.S. Ingram, M.J. Hostetler, R.W. Murray, T.G. Schaaff, J.T. Khoury, R.L. Whetten, T.P. Bigioni, D.K. Guthrie, P.N. First, Journal of the American Chemical Society 119 (1997) 9279–9280.
- [40] S. Devarajan, S. Sampath, in: C.N.R. Rao, A.K. Cheetham (Eds.), The Chemistry of Nanomaterials, vol. 2, Wiley-VCH, Darmstadt, Germany, 2004.
- [41] S. Chen, R.W. Murry, S.W. Feldberg, The Journal of Physical Chemistry B 102 (1998) 9898–9899.
- [42] S. Chen, R.W. Murry, The Journal of Physical Chemistry B 103 (1999) 9996–10000.
- [43] B.M. Quinn, P. Liljeroth, V. Ruiz, T. Laaksonen, K. Kontturi, Journal of the American Chemical Society 125 (2003) 6644–6645.
- [44] Y. Song, M.L. Heien, V. Jimenez, R.M. Wightman, R.W. Murray, Analytical Chemistry 76 (2004) 4911–4919.
- [45] V.L. Jimenez, M.C. Leopold, C. Mazzitelli, J.W. Jorgenson, R.W. Murray, Analytical Chemistry 75 (2003) 5088–5096.
- [46] Y. Song, C. McKinney, R. Donkers, R.W. Murray, Analytical Chemistry 75 (2003) 5088–5096.
- [47] D.T. Miles, R.W. Murry, Analytical Chemistry 73 (2001) 921-929.
- [48] M.B.G. García, A.C. García, Bioelectrochemistry and Bioenergetics 38 (1995) 389–395.
 [49] M. Pumera, M. Aldavert, C. Mills, A. Merkoci, S. Alegret, Electrochimica Acta
- [13] M. Lamera, M. Audaveri, C. Minis, A. Microci, S. Alegret, Electrochillica Acta 50 (2005) 3702–3707.
- [50] Z. Chen, Z. Peng, P. Zhang, X. Jin, J. Jiang, X. Zhang, G. Shen, R. Yu, Talanta 72 (2007) 1800–1804.
- [51] V. Shumyantseva, E. Suprun, T. Bulko, A. Archakov, Electroanalysis 21 (2009) 530–535.
- [52] K. Kerman, K. Heinz-Bernhard, Biosensors & Bioelectronics 24 (2009) 1484–1489.
- [53] K. Idegami, M. Chikae, K. Kerman, N. Nagatani, T. Yuhi, T. Endo, E. Tamiya, Electroanalysis 20 (2008) 14–21.
- [54] K. Kerman, K. Heinz-Bernhard, Chemical Communications (2007) 5019–5021.
 [55] A. Ambrosi, M.T. Castaneda, A.J. Killard, M.R. Smyth, S. Alegret, A. Merkoci,
- Analytical Chemistry 79 (2007) 5232–5240. [56] M.T. Castaneda, A. Merkoci, M. Pumera, S. Alegret, Biosensors & Bioelectronics
- 22 (2007) 1961–1967. [57] K. Kerman, S. Yamamura, E. Tamiya, A. Merkoci, Analytica Chimica Acta 588
- (2007) 26–33. [58] M. Pumera, M.T. Castaneda, M.I. Pividori, R. Eritja, A. Merkoci, S. Alegret,
- Langmuir 21 (2005) 9625–9629. [59] J. Wang, Analytical Electrochemistry, Wiley-VCH, Hoboken, New Jersey, 2006.
- [60] E.S. Jacobs, Analytical Chemistry 35 (1963) 2112–2115.
- [61] M. Lintern, A. Mann, D. Longman, Analytica Chimica Acta 209 (1988) 193-203.
- [62] I. Turyan, D. Mandler, Analytical Chemistry 65 (1993) 2089–2092.
- [63] G. Alarnes-Varela, A. Costa-García, Electroanalysis 9 (1997) 1262–1266.
- [64] M. Dequaire, C. Degrand, B. Limoges, Analytical Chemistry 72 (2000) 5521–5528.
- [65] L. Authier, C. Grossiord, P. Brossier, B. Limoges, Analytical Chemistry 73 (2001) 4450–4456.
- [66] J. Wang, D. Xu, A. Kawde, R. Polsky, Analytical Chemistry 73 (2001) 5576–5581.
- [67] E. Suprun, V. Shumyantseva, T. Bulko, S. Rachmetova, S. Rad'ko, N. Bodoev, A. Archakov, Biosensors & Bioelectronics 24 (2009) 825–830.
- [68] A. de la Escosura-Muniz, A. Ambrosi, A. Merkoci, Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry 27 (2008) 568–584.
- [69] L. Nie, H. Guo, Q. He, J. Chen, Y. Miao, Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology 7 (2007) 560–564.
- [70] J. Wang, Biosensing for the 21st Century: Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology, vol. 109, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany, 2008.
- [71] G. Liu, Y. Lin, Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology 5 (2005) 1060-1065.
- [72] J. Wang, Electroanalysis 19 (2007) 769-776.
- [73] R. Mitra, Digest Journal of Nanomaterials and Biostructures 4 (2009) 109–111.
- [74] X. Mao, M. Baloda, A.S. Gurung, Y. Lin, G. Liu, Electrochemistry Communications 10 (2008) 1636–1640.
- [75] R. Thomas, Practical guide to ICP–MS, Marcel Dekker, New York, 2004.
- [76] A. Scheffer, C. Engelhard, M. Sperling, W. Buscher, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 390 (2008) 249–252.
- [77] R. Allabashi, A. de la Escosura-Muñiz, L. Liste-Calleja, A. Merkoçi, Journal of Nanoparticle Research 11 (2009) 2003–2011.
- [78] C. Zhang, Z. Zhang, B. Yu, J. Shi, X. Zhang, Analytical Chemistry 74 (2002) 96–99.
- [79] V.I. Baranov, Z. Quinn, D.R. Bandura, S.D. Tanner, Analytical Chemistry 74 (2002) 1629–1636.
- [80] A. Merkoçi, G. Tarrasón, R. Eritja, S. Alegret, Analytical Chemistry 77 (2005) 6500–6503.
- [81] Y.Y. Lu, W.J. Wang, Z. Xing, S.D. Wang, P. Cao, S.C. Zhang, X.R. Zhang, Talanta 78 (2009) 869–873.
- [82] Z.A. Quinn, V.I. Baranov, S.D. Tanner, J.L. Wrana, Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry 17 (2002) 892–896.

- [83] Q. Zhao, X.F. Lu, C.G. Yuan, X.F. Li, X.C. Le, Analytical Chemistry 81 (2009) 7484–7489.
- [84] S.L. Kerr, B. Sharp, Chemical Communications (2007) 4537–4539.
- [85] L.L. Wu, L.W. Qiu, C.S. Shi, J. Zhu, Biomacromolecules 8 (2007) 2795–2800.
- [86] W. Brüchert, J. Bettmer, Analytical Chemistry 77 (2005) 5072–5075.
- [87] W. Brüchert, J. Bettmer, A. Helfrich, Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry 21 (2006) 431–434.
- [88] S.F. Durrant, Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry 14 (1999) 1385–1403.
- [89] S.D. Muller, R.A. Diaz-Bone, J. Felix, W. Goedecke, Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry 20 (2005) 907–911.
- [90] C. Degueldre, P.Y. Favarger, S. Wold, Analytica Chimica Acta 555 (2006) 263-268.
- [91] S.H. Hu, R. Liu, S.C. Zhang, Z. Huang, Z. Xing, X.R. Zhang, Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry 20 (2009) 1096–1103.
- [92] P. Mulvaney, Langmuir 12 (1996) 788-800.
- [93] R. Sardar, A.M. Funston, P. Mulvaney, R.W. Murray, Langmuir 25 (2009) 13840–13851.
- [94] P.K. Jain, K.S. Lee, I.H. El-Sayed, M.A. El-Sayed, The Journal of Physical Chemistry B 110 (2006) 7238–7248.
- [95] K.L. Kelly, E. Coronado, L.L. Zhao, G.C. Schatz, The Journal of Physical Chemistry B 107 (2002) 668–677.
- [96] S. Link, M.A. El-Sayed, The Journal of Physical Chemistry B 103 (1999) 8410-8426.
- [97] N.G. Khlebtsov, Analytical Chemistry 80 (2008) 6620-6625.
- [98] W. Haiss, N.T.K. Thanh, J. Aveyard, D.G. Fernig, Analytical Chemistry 79 (2007) 4215–4221.
- [99] N. Nath, A. Chilkoti, Analytical Chemistry 74 (2001) 504-509.

- [100] C.-C. Huang, Y.-F. Huang, Z. Cao, W. Tan, H.-T. Chang, Analytical Chemistry 77 (2005) 5735–5741.
- [101] S.B. Zhang, Z.S. Wu, M.M. Guo, G.L. Shen, R.Q. Yu, Talanta 71 (2007) 1530-1535.
- [102] S.-H. Wu, Y.-S. Wu, C.-H. Chen, Analytical Chemistry 80 (2008) 6560–6566.
- [103] J. Liu, Y. Lu, Journal of the American Chemical Society 126 (2004) 12298–12305.
- [104] T. Jiang, X. Huang, H. Feng, W. Teo, B. Xing, Chemical Communications (2009) 1972–1974.
- [105] Q. Shen, Z. Nie, M. Guo, C. Zhong, B. Lin, W. Li, S. Yao, Chemical Communications (2009) 929–931.
- [106] Y. Jiang, N. Zhu, Y. Lin, P. Yu, L. Mao, Angewandte Chemie International Edition 47 (2008) 8601–8604.
- [107] A. Mishra, S. Ram, G. Ghosh, The Journal of Physical Chemistry C 113 (2009) 6976–6982.
- [108] K.C. Lewis, D.M. Dohmeier, J.W. Jorgenson, S.L. Kaufman, F. Zarrin, F.D. Dorman, Analytical Chemistry 66 (1994) 2285–2292.
- [109] L.B. Allen, J.A. Koropchak, Analytical Chemistry 65 (1993) 841-844.
- [110] I.W. Lenggoro, B. Xia, K. Okuyama, J.F. de la Mora, Langmuir 18 (2002) 4584–4591.
- [111] O. Kikuo, N. Koichi, Kuki Seijo to Kontamineshyon Kontororu Kenkyu Taikai Yokoshu 21 (2003) 206–208.
- [112] M. Lintern, A. Mann, D. Longmann, Analytica Chimica Acta 585 (2007) 193-201.
- [113] D.H. Tsai, R.A. Zangmeister, L.F. Pease III, M.J. Tarlov, M.R. Zachariah, Langmuir 24 (2008) 8483–8490.
- [114] C. Xie, F. Xu, X. Huang, C. Dong, J. Ren, Journal of the American Chemical Society 131 (2009) 12763–12770.